FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/22/2019 2:56 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 97106-4

NO. 35294-3-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON					
STATE OF WASHINGTON,					
Respondent,					
v.					
JOHNNY TALBERT, JR.,					
Petitioner.					
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY					
The Honorable Alexander Ekstrom, Judge					
PETITION FOR REVIEW					

E. RANIA RAMPERSAD Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E. Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents the questions, what is the correct legal framework to evaluate a claim that evidence must be admitted under the constitutional right to present a defense? What is the correct standard of review on appeal?

- 1. Is this Court's review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the decision of the court of appeals, and the legal standard articulated therein, conflict with this Court's decisions in State v. Duarte Vela, 200 Wn. App. 306, 402 P.3d 281 (2017), State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720-21, 230 P.3d 576 (2010), and State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 620, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002)?
- 2. Is this Court's review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because it presents a "significant question" of constitutional law under the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution: that the right to present a defense supersedes application of other court-created rules of evidence that exclude hearsay?

3. Is this Court's review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it presents a question of "substantial public interest": whether a trial court may disregard existing Washington Supreme Court jurisprudence to exclude evidence relevant to an accused's right to present a defense on the basis of hearsay rules where the State makes no showing of prejudice?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Charges & Defense</u>

The Benton County Prosecutor's Office charged Johnny Talbert Jr. with one count of first degree child rape, two counts of first degree child molestation, and the aggravator abuse of position of trust. CP 7. The State alleged Talbert had engaged in sexual acts with seven-year-old J.Q., the daughter of Talbert's girlfriend. CP 7-8; 1RP 527, 529-30.

Talbert asserted general denial and proceeded to a trial by jury.

2. Trial Evidence

At trial, the State presented testimony from J.Q., her mother, an elementary school counselor, a child interviewer, a nurse, and two detectives, as well as an expert in child interview techniques. The State also presented a recording of J.Q.'s forensic interview, body diagrams

 $^{^{1}}$ This Petition refers to the verbatim transcripts of proceedings as follows: 1RP (2/13/17, 2/15/17-2/17/17); 2RP (5/9/17).

referenced in the interview, and photographs of the home where the incidents allegedly took place. 1RP 191, 193-210; e.g. 1RP 152-59.

Talbert testified on his own behalf, offered testimony his own expert on child interviewing techniques, and recalled a State detective for rebuttal.

Nancy Dabney, J.Q.'s elementary school counselor, testified to the following. After hearing disclosures from another student, Dabney called J.Q. to her office for a 45-60 min. conversation. 1RP 123, 127-28. J.Q. had never been to her office before, her office was near the principal's office, and Dabney called over the intercom for J.Q. to be brought. 1RP 129-31. Dabney had no training or experience in child interviewing. 1RP 136-37.

During the conversation, J.Q. became upset and stated, "'My dad' or 'stepdad licked my pussy.'" 1RP 124. Dabney could not recall whether J.Q. said "dad" or "stepdad." 1RP 124. After further questioning, J.Q. said "John Talbert" but did not include a name in her written statement. 1RP 125, 138-39. On cross-examination, Dabney admitted that in a previous interview, she had answered that she did not recall whether J.Q. had provided a name or not. Dabney asked J.Q. when this occurred, but J.Q. had a difficult time discussing it. 1RP 125. Dabney testified that through further questioning "we figured out it was some time the previous school year when she was in the second grade," and narrowed the timeframe to

Sep. 2014 to Jun. 2015. 1RP 125, 138. Dabney then reported to Child Protective Services (C.P.S.). 1RP 128.

Detective Lee Cantu was assigned to the case and arranged for Muri Murstig, a child forensic interviewer employed by Benton County, to interview J.Q. at school. 1RP 145-46, 181. The State played a recording of J.Q.'s interview to the jury. 1RP 193-210; Exh. 17.

In the interview, J.Q. alleged various incidents of sexual contact, including rubbing and penetration of her vagina by Talbert's tongue, fingers, and penis, and her hand on Talbert's penis. Exh. 17, 19, 22, 38, 41-42, 45. She also stated Talbert showed her a pornographic video of girls performing oral sex on other girls. Exh. 17, p. 35. J.Q. provided graphic descriptions of various sexual acts, describing in detail her observations and feelings. Exh. 17, p. 13-14, 17-19, 20, 30, 39, 41, 44.

During the interview, J.Q. displayed ambiguity regarding the identities of Talbert and her former step-father, Michael Talmage. J.Q. referred to John Talbert as "Popeye," "papa," "my dad," and "my step-dad." Exh. 17, p. 7. She explained "Michael" was her "old dad" and she did not see him anymore. Exh. 17, p. 7. At two points in the interview, J.Q. became confused between Talbert and Michael. Exh. 17, pp. 7, 32. Both times, Murstig corrected J.Q. to emphasize they were discussing Talbert, not Michael. Exh. 17, pp. 7, 32. For example, when discussing when the

alleged abused occurred, J.Q. stated, "Yeah, sometimes um ... my mom's gone, my ... my dad, my step-dad Michael, he like ... [.]" Exh. 17, p. 31. Murstig interrupted stating, "You said your step-dad Michael." Exh. 17, p. 31. J.Q. then altered her statement to say, "Oh, not Michael uh... John ... John Talbert." Exh. 17, pp. 31-32.

J.Q.'s interview also displayed ambiguity in the number, location, and dates of the incident(s). At various points, she stated that only one incident of sexual contact occurred. <u>E.g.</u> Exh. 17, pp. 15, 22. When specifically asked if a particular act occurred more than once, J.Q. stated ""I get confused a bunch." Exh. 17, p. 16. However, she described incidents of abuse or pornography viewing occurring in the kitchen, the master bedroom upstairs, and the T.V. room downstairs. Exh. 17, pp. 32-33 (kitchen), 20, 22, 27, 46 (bedroom), 35 (viewing pornography "downstairs"). She also stated, "I get confused a lot." Exh. 17, p. 27.

In discussion locations, J.Q. described two different homes including a home on Ida Street where she lived prior to the dates identified by the counselor. Exh. 17, pp. 14-15, 24, 46. She initially stated only one incident of abuse occurred in the Ida house, but then stated conclusively that the abuse occurred only at the red house on Fig Street. Exh. 17, pp. 25-26.

After the interview Detective Cantu called J.Q.'s mother, Michelle Talmage, and asked her to bring herself, Talbert, and J.Q. to the Sheriff's

Office. 1RP 150. Upon their arrival, the parties were separated and Talbert and Talmage were each interviewed. 1RP 151, 171.

Detective Smith later searched a hard drive connected to the T.V. in Talbert's home, and testified that he uncovered a pornographic video matching the description provided by J.Q. in her interview. 1RP 385.

Several days later, J.Q. was examined by a nurse practitioner who testified J.Q. showed no physical indications of sexual abuse, but 90% of abused female children showed no physical signs, so this result was inconclusive. 1RP 273-74.

Talmage testified to the following. She and Talbert had met several years prior, but broke up shortly before her marriage to Michael Talmage. 1RP 328-29. She and Michael Talmage later separated, and in September 2014 she and Talbert rekindled their relationship. 1RP 329. Michael Talmage had a goatee. 1RP 374. She did not agree that Talbert never had any facial hair during the time they were together. 1RP 373.

In February 2015, she and her two daughters, J.Q. and J.S., moved in together to the house on Ida. 1RP 333. J.Q. is known to be developmentally delayed. 1RP 348. J.S. later went to live with her grandmother. 1RP 334. Then in in September 2015, Talbert, Talmage, and J.Q. moved to the house on Fig Street. 1RP 335.

Talbert wanted her to stay home to spend time with her daughters while he provided financial support. 1RP 345. They shared a bank account and both signed the lease on the Fig Street house. 1RP 335-36, 368. During this time, she attempted to start a Mary Kay business and started a small computer repair business. 1RP 360-61. Talmage insisted that although Talbert provided the primary financial support through his day labor work, he did not provide the primary financial support for her computer businesses. 1RP 360-61.

She testified she was "shocked" to learn the allegations. 1RP 349-50. Things then became difficult as she had to financially support herself and J.Q. RP 374. She used the money in the joint bank account to pay for basic expenses and there was not enough left to pay rent. RP 378. She received some financial assistance from an aid organization, got a job, and moved into a trailer where she and J.Q. now live. RP 374-74, 378.

Talmage did not agree that two weeks prior to the allegations, she and Talbert had argued, that Talbert was frustrated that she was not bringing in money, or that Talbert had told her she had to get a job or move out of the house. 1RP 374.

Talbert testified as follows on his own behalf. When he was informed of the allegations against him, he felt like he had been hit by a truck. 1RP 465. Cantu also described that on hearing the allegations,

Talbert "appeared dumbfounded." 1RP 495. Talbert was then interrogated for over an hour. 1RP 172.

He never had any sexual contact with J.Q., never asked her to engage in sexual acts, never showed her pornography, and consistently told the detectives this during his interrogation. 1RP 465-66, 467-68.

Both he and Talmage maintained their own pornography collections on the hard drive of their computer, but they mainly watched her collection because it was newer. 1RP 459-60. Talbert was not aware of the children ever watching pornography. 1RP 460.

Talbert became aware of Talmage's financial difficulties and invited her and her two daughters to move into his house on Ida. 1RP 455-56. They moved to Fig Street because he was unable to keep up expenses on Ida and the rent was cheaper on Fig Street. 1RP 456-57. Talmage brought two pickup truck-loads and one car-load worth of household items for herself and her children. 1RP 458. However, the majority of the furnishings and household items were his. 1RP 457-58.

During this time, Talmage did not have a "real job." 1RP 457. Talbert financially supported her efforts to start a Mary Kay business and a computer business, but both "petered out." 1RP 457. When they moved to Fig Street, there was a financial strain in their relationship given Talmage's lack of work. 1RP 461. Talbert wanted her to contribute financially, either

by getting a job or getting her computer business going. 1RP 461. Approximately two weeks before his incarceration, they argued and he told Talmage, "Either you get a job or you're gonna have to get out." 1RP 462.

During cross-examination, the State used a transcript of Talbert's interrogation to impeach his testimony. 1RP 469. Specifically, the State questioned Talbert as follows:

- Q. And throughout that interview you were asked multiple times, 'Isn't it true? You know, why would she make this up? Isn't that true?'
- A. I don't remember. If you're saying it is, it is.

. . .

- Q. I don't want to put words in your mouth. So, let's go through how many times you were asked that question. I ask that you turn to page 13 of the document in front of you. "Okay. Why would Jasmine say that you do?" "That I do what?" Detective Cantu asks you, "So, you lick her pussy, and that you do that with your wife or girlfriend. Why would she say something like that?" And you say, "I don't know."
- A. I don't -
- Q. Isn't that true?
- A. Yeah. I don't know why she'd say that.
- Q. You didn't say, "Oh. It's because I'm kickin' her mom out in two weeks;" isn't that true?
- A. No, I didn't say it then.

1RP 476-77 (emphasis added).

The prosecutor then said, "Okay. Well let's see if you said it at a different time" and proceeded to point out another instance on page 14 of the transcript of the interrogation where Talbert responded that he did not know why J.Q. would make false accusations against him. 1RP 478.

The prosecutor again stated "You didn't tell Detective Cantu at that time 'Oh, maybe it's because I'm gonna kick her mom out." 1RP 478. Talbert responded that he said "I have no idea" because at the time, he did not have any idea why the accusation was being made, that he was "overwhelmed" with "being charged with a disgusting crime" and so "the last thing I'm thinkin' about was kickin' someone out." 1RP 478-79. The State then asserted, "But you've had 15 months to think about it since then, haven't you Mr. Talbert." 1RP 479 (emphasis added).

The State then referred to pages 18 and 37 of the interrogation transcript, where Talbert again responded that he did not know why J.Q. would make these allegations, and later offered the possibility that J.Q. might be motivated by thinking, "It's going to help get rid of her mom or something. I have no idea. I have -- I don't know." 1RP 479-82.

On re-direct, defense counsel sought to play the entire recording of Talbert's interrogation as a prior consistent statement and to rebut the State's allegation of recent fabrication, and it would be unfair to defense to exclude the entirety of the transcript. 1RP 486, 487, 488. The State objected, saying her impeachment method did not open the door to the entire recording. 1RP 486-87.

The court denied the defense motion to play the entire recording, reasoning the State "did not imply a fabrication that can be disproved by

consistent statement... in that recorded statement." 1RP 490-91 (citing ER 801(d)(1)(ii)).

Both parties called expert witnesses to evaluate whether Murstig had used proper interview techniques during J.Q.'s forensic interview.

The State called Laura Merchant, the Assistant Director at the Harborview sexual assault center, who testified that she had been involved in the development of Washington's child forensic interview protocols for the past 16-18 years. 1RP 231, 234. Merchant testified that although Murstig had used direct questions at some points, this was in line with the "gentle persistence" permitted by the protocols and was not undue leading. 1RP 249. Murstig spent too much time clarifying dates with J.Q. because children are "notoriously bad" at recalling these details. 1RP 251-53. She concluded that Murstig "generally" followed the protocols. 1RP 251.

The defense called Daniel Reisberg, a cognitive psychologist and professor at Reid College, who testified that he conducted scientific research on the best ways on the mechanisms of memory and reporting. 1RP 283. He conducted training for actors within the justice system in order to "make the science as useful as possible." 1RP 285. Reisberg testified that while Murstig's interview had both good and bad points, she had generally asked too many yes/no questions, offered her own interpretation of the child's responses, introduced new ideas, such as asking "Did he put

his hands on you[,]" and asked "confrontational" questions in order to point out ambiguities, which allowed J.Q. to modify her statements so as to reduce inconsistencies. 1RP 290-300.

The risk of these poor interviewing techniques was that direct yes/no questions could "feed information to the child," introduction of new ideas and interpretations from the interviewer meant that the information was not flowing from the child, and confrontational questions could lead to alterations in testimony, making the child's statement appear more consistent than it actually was. 1RP 291-301. Reisberg stated such "coaching" could "absolutely" be "inadvertent." 1RP 300. However, these techniques risked polluting the testimony, such that a child could end up with a "distorted report," regardless of whether the child was attempting to lie or attempting to tell the truth. 1RP 312-13.

J.Q. testified at trial to many of the same incidents described in her forensic interview, including external touching and penetration of her vagina by Talbert's fingers, tongue and penis, and the pornographic video. 1RP 398, 404, 407, 408-09, 410, 412. However, she also testified for the first time that Talbert had touched her vagina with a purple vibrator, and had showed her more than five videos, rather than just one. 1RP 432-33, 440. Notably, J.Q. mentioned the vibrator for the first time after the attorneys and court had conducted a side bar to discuss the potential

admissibility of questions regarding whether J.Q.'s mother had showed her a vibrator. 1RP 437, 440.

J.Q. testified the sexual contact occurred in the living room, kitchen, bedroom, and basement of the house on Fig Street. 1RP 417-18, 418, 419, 421. She also identified Talbert and during trial, did not confuse him with her former step-father, Michael Talmage. 1RP 397, 429.

3. Closing Arguments

In closing, the State argued the following. Evidence showed J.Q.'s statements in court and the forensic interview were credible and showed multiple acts of child rape and molestation. 1RP 528-29, 544. Her testimony was corroborated by the video found on the hard drive. 1RP 547. The State's expert validated the forensic interview results and the defense expert was unqualified. 1RP 534-36. J.Q.'s ability to describe sex acts in graphic detail arose from her personal experiences. 1RP 536-44.

The defense closing argument emphasized the lack of corroborating evidence; without D.N.A., video, or medical history, the entire case hinged on J.Q.'s statements. 1RP 567-68. Expert testimony, the inconsistencies in J.Q.'s statements, and the difference between J.Q.'s initial allegations and her trial testimony all showed J.Q. had been influenced, even if inadvertently, by the poor interviewing techniques of her school counselor and Murstig. 1RP 553-54, 562-64, 565-67. J.Q.'s statements were

consistent with a child describing pornography she had watched, and J.Q. had unrestricted access to such pornography in her home. 1RP 560.

4. <u>Verdict & Sentence</u>

The jury found Talbert guilty of all three counts, including one count of first degree child rape (count I) and two counts of first degree child molestation (counts II & III). CP 49-51. The jury also returned three special verdict forms, finding Talbert had used a position of trust. CP 52-54.

The court sentenced Talbert to an indeterminate life sentence on all three counts with mandatory minimum sentences above the standard ranges. CP 75; 2RP 21-22. The court also imposed various restrictive community custody conditions. CP 81-83.

5. Appellate Arguments & Decision

Talbert timely appealed four issues including: (i) whether his right against double jeopardy had been violated, (ii) whether the court's exclusion of his interview transcript violated his right to present a defense, (iii) whether several community custody conditions were unconstitutionally vague and overbroad, and (iv) whether his trial counsel provided ineffective assistance. CP 93; Br. App. 1-2; Statement of Additional Grounds (SAG).

The Court of Appeals found double jeopardy had been violated, and remanded to strike one of the two counts of first degree child molestation.

<u>Talbert</u>, 2019 WL 852338, at *5. The court also noted the State largely had

conceded community custody conditions 8, 9, 10, and 15 were overbroad.

Id. The court directed the sentencing court to revisit the issue on resentencing and apply this Court's recent opinions. Id. (citations omitted).

Regarding the right to present a defense, the Court of Appeals reasoned Talbert's claim was an evidentiary ruling properly evaluated under the abuse of discretion standard. <u>Id.</u> at *3. It further reasoned the right to present a defense "does not extend to otherwise inadmissible evidence." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v. Aguirre</u>, 168 Wn.2d 350, 363, 229 P.3d 669 (2010)). The court then reasoned Talbert's statement to law enforcement "was not admissible as a prior consistent statement under ER 801(d)(1)(ii)" because the his prior statement "was not materially consistent with his trial testimony" and "was not made prior to a motive to fabricate." Id.

The court rejected Talbert's SAG claims of ineffective assistance of counsel (IAC) as unsupported by the record, precluded by case law, or requiring a supported a personal restraint petition. Id. at *5.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

THIS COURT'S REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO CORRECT THE COURT OF APPEALS' MISAPPREHENSION OF THE STANDARDS RELEVANT TO THE RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE.

1. The court of appeals' decision conflicts with published Supreme Court decisions under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The court of appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in <u>Duarte Vela</u>, 200 Wn. App. 306, <u>Jones</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 720-21, and <u>Darden</u>, 145 Wn.2d at 620.

The Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 grant an accused two separate but related rights: (1) the right to present testimony in one's defense and (2) the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses. U.S. Const., Amend. VI; Wash. Const., art. I, §22; State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 14-15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983) (citing Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 23, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 1925, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1967); Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974); Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973)). Taken together, these rights constitute the right to present a defense. Duarte Vela, 200 Wn. App. at 317 (citing Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720-21).

These rights are not absolute. <u>Darden</u>, 145 Wn.2d at 620. Evidence "must be of at least minimal relevance." <u>Id</u>. at 622. "[I]f relevant, the burden is on the State to show the evidence is so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial." <u>Id</u>. The State's interest in excluding prejudicial evidence must also "be balanced against the defendant's need for the information sought," and relevant information can

be withheld only "if the State's interest outweighs the defendant's need." <u>Id</u>. Where evidence has "*high* probative value 'it appears no state interest can be compelling enough to preclude its introduction." <u>Jones</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 720 (emphasis in original) (quoting <u>Hudlow</u>, 99 Wn.2d at 16).

Generally, a trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 175 Wn.2d 457, 462, 285 P.3d 873 (2012). However, a violation of the constitutional right to present a defense is reviewed *de novo*. <u>Jones</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 719.

As noted above, <u>Darden</u>, <u>Jones</u>, and most recently <u>Duarte Vela</u> set forth this Court's framework for assessing the admissibility of evidence in light of a defendant's right to present a defense. These cases also define this Court's standard of review for such claims on appeal. Although Talbert raised such a claim, the court of appeals did not cite to any of these three foundational decisions in its opinion.

Instead of applying the proper standard, the court of appeals quoted dicta from Aguirre. Id. at *2 (quoting Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d at 363). However, Aguirre involved a defendant's request to admit testimony involving the irrelevant sexual history of an alleged rape victim regarding her relationship with another man. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d at 362. Thus, the testimony in Aguirre was inadmissible because it failed to meet the

minimum threshold for relevance, not because it was inadmissible under the rape shield statute (or other rules of evidence).

To hold otherwise conflicts with the express holding of <u>Jones</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 717-18, 721. <u>Jones</u> held that regardless of the rape shield statute, the right to present a defense framework must be applied, and where met, the evidence must be admitted regardless of purported exclusion by other non-constitutional evidentiary rules. <u>Id</u>.

Although this Court recently accepted review of a right to present a defense case in <u>Duarte Vela</u>, Talbert's case illustrates why this Court should nonetheless accept review again under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Doing so is necessary to clarify the reasoning of <u>Duarte Vela</u>, <u>Jones</u>, and <u>Darden</u>, to set forth the proper framework for admissibility and the proper standard of review on appeal, to clarify these decisions in light of the <u>dicta</u> here cited from <u>Aguirre</u>, and to correct the court of appeals' misapprehension of this Court's existing jurisprudence.

2. This case presents a significant question of federal and State constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

As discussed above, this case addresses the correct legal standards to be applied to evidence admissibility and appellate review for claims of the right to present a defense. As such, it presents a significant question of law under Washington's Constitution, article I, section 22 and the Sixth

Amendment to the U.S. Constitution defining the rights of an accused to present evidence and cross-examine witnesses.

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Doing so presents the opportunity to clarify the proper legal standards, correct the court of appeals' misapplication of existing law, and prevent dicta from Aguirre from undermining this Court's recent mandate in Duarte Vela.

3. This case presents an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This case creates a compelling issue of substantial public interest because left unchecked, the court of appeals' flawed reasoning will erode important constitutional protections for all individuals in Washington accused of crimes.

Under the reasoning of the court of appeals, an accused lacks a constitutional right to present a defense where the evidence is otherwise inadmissible under court- or legislatively-created rules. <u>Talbert</u>, 2019 WL 852338, at *1. This reasoning completely eradicates the right to present a defense. The constitutional right to present a defense is meaningful <u>only</u> where it operates as a <u>check</u> against evidentiary rules created by courts and legislatures. If the right does not exist unless evidence is otherwise admissible, then the right ceases to exist entirely.

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), to prevent such tautological reasoning from proliferating, and to preserve the constitutional right to present a defense for all accused persons in Washington.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the aforementioned reasons, Talbert respectfully asks this Court to grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

Talbert also respectfully requests that this Court grant review of his IAC claims under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because a decision accepting his claims would be likely to impact a large number of petitions in Washington State.

DATED this 22nd day of April, 2019.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC

E Paria Rangues &

E. RANIA RAMPERSAD

WSBA No. 47224

Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Appellant



Renee S. Townsley Clerk/Administrator

(509) 456-3082 TDD #1-800-833-6388 The Court of Appeals of the State of Washington Division III

500 N Cedar ST Spokane, WA 99201-1905

Fax (509) 456-4288 http://www.courts.wa.gov/courts



February 21, 2019

E-mail

Andrew Kelvin Miller Anita Isabelle Petra Benton County Prosecutor's Office 7122 W Okanogan PI Bldg A Kennewick, WA 99336-2359 E-mail
Christopher Gibson
Elizabeth Rania Rampersad
Nielsen Broman & Koch PLLC
1908 E Madison St

Seattle, WA 98122-2842

CASE # 352943

State of Washington v. Johnny Narvin Talbert, Jr. BENTON COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT No. 151013592

Counsel:

Enclosed please find a copy of the opinion filed by the Court today.

A party need not file a motion for reconsideration as a prerequisite to discretionary review by the Washington Supreme Court. RAP 13.3(b), 13.4(a). If a motion for reconsideration is filed, it should state with particularity the points of law or fact that the moving party contends the court has overlooked or misapprehended, together with a brief argument on the points raised. RAP 12.4(c). Motions for reconsideration which merely reargue the case should not be filed.

Motions for reconsideration, if any, must be filed within twenty (20) days after the filing of the opinion. RAP 12.4(b). Please file the motion electronically through the court's e-filing portal or if in paper format, only the original need be filed. If no motion for reconsideration is filed, any petition for review to the Supreme Court must be filed in this court within thirty (30) days after the filing of the opinion (may also be filed electronically or if in paper format, only the original need be filed). RAP 13.4(a). The motion for reconsideration and petition for review must be received (not mailed) on or before the dates each is due. RAP 18.5(c).

Sincerely,

Renee S. Townsley Clerk/Administrator

Zinee/S Journsley

RST:btb Attachment

c: E-mail Honorable Alexander C. Ekstrom

c: Johnny Narvin Talbert, Jr. #398686 Coyote Ridge Corrections Center PO Box 769

Connell, WA 98584

FILED FEBRUARY 21, 2019 In the Office of the Clerk of Court WA State Court of Appeals, Division III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,)	No. 35294-3-III
)	
Respondent,)	
-)	
v.)	UNPUBLISHED OPINION
)	
JOHNNY NARVIN TALBERT,)	
)	
Appellant.)	

PENNELL, A.C.J. — Johnny Narvin Talbert appeals his convictions for one count of first degree rape of a child and two counts of first degree child molestation. The conviction for first degree rape of a child is affirmed. However, one of Mr. Talbert's two child molestation convictions must be vacated based on double jeopardy concerns. This matter is remanded for resentencing.

FACTS

In November 2015, 8-year-old J.Q. reported to her school counselor that she had been sexually assaulted by her mother's live-in boyfriend, Johnny Talbert. The

information was then relayed to the authorities. Less than a week after J.Q.'s disclosure, Mr. Talbert voluntarily went to the Benton County Sheriff's Office and participated in a recorded interview. After the interview, Mr. Talbert was arrested and taken into custody.

Mr. Talbert was charged in superior court with one count of first degree rape of a child and two counts of first degree child molestation. His case proceeded to trial.

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