FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/22/2019 4:10 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97106-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JOHNNY NARVIN TALBERT, JR., Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

Terry J. Bloor Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 9044 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-359l

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

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. The petition should be denied because it does not meet any of the prongs under RAP 13.4 (b)
 - 1. The issue is not constitutional, and the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with other cases.

Trial court rulings relating to the admission of evidence are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Ruiz,* 176 Wn. App. 623, 634, 309 P.3d 700 (2013). The defendant argues that the standard of review should be de novo because the trial court ruling was a violation of the defendant's constitutional right to present a defense. He cites *State v. Jones,* 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010), *State v. Duarte Vela,* 200 Wn. App. 306, 402 P.3d 281 (2017) and *State v. Darden,* 145 Wn.2d 612, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). None of these cases are directly on point.

The question in *Darden* was "whether a criminal defendant's right to cross-examine adverse witnesses is trumped by the State's interest to

avoid disclosure of a secret law enforcement surveillance location."

Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 615. The court reversed the conviction but affirmed that the question is still whether or not a trial court's ruling on admissibility was an abuse of discretion. Id. at 619.

Duarte Vela was a murder case in which the defendant claimed self-defense. The defendant wanted to introduce evidence that the victim had threatened him two or three years earlier, had abducted his younger sister about seven years earlier, and had battered his wife—the defendant's sister—throughout their marriage. Duarte Vela, 200 Wn. App. at 313, 315. He argued that this evidence was probative of his degree of fear of the victim.

In *Jones*, the defendant claimed he and his niece had consensual sex at a cocaine and alcohol fueled party which included her having sex with two other men and dancing for money for the men. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 717. The trial court refused to allow the defendant to testify to this under the Rape Shield statute. The Court reversed the conviction saying that the evidence was relevant and that the trial court misinterpreted the Rape Shield statute.

Here, the issue about playing the audio of the defendant's police interrogation arose after the defendant had testified on direct and been cross-examined. The defendant did not previously attempt to admit or play

the audio tape through other witnesses or in his direct testimony. This demonstrates that the audio was not a significant part of his defense. The defendant only sought to admit the audio tape after he was effectively cross-examined to reinforce his testimony denying he committed the offenses.

In contrast, in *Jones* and *Duarte Vela* there were restrictions on the topics the defendants were allowed to testify about. In *Darden*, the defendant was restricted in asking police about their ability to observe the events in question. *Jones, Duarte Vela*, and *Darden* dealt with balancing the probative value of evidence against its prejudicial effect.

Here, the decision to not allow the defendant to play his police interview was based on hearsay, rather than a balancing of probative versus prejudicial evidence. In other words, he was able to testify without restriction that he did not commit the offense. He could not articulate a reason why his out of court statements also denying that he committed the offense should be admissible.

The defendant criticizes the Court of Appeals decision for citing State v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 350, 229 P.3d 669 (2010) for the proposition the right to present a defense "does not extend to the introduction of otherwise inadmissible evidence." *Id.* at 363; See Court of Appeals decision at 5. However, this is consistent with the *Jones, Duarte Vela*, and

Darden cases on which the defendant relies. In all three of those cases, the court stated, "Defendants have a right to present only relevant evidence, with no constitutional right to present irrelevant evidence." Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720, Duarte Vela, 200 Wn. App. at 317, and Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 622.

Even if this court looked at the issue de novo, ignored the hearsay rules, and decided that the audio tape in fairness should have been played, there is no reason to reverse the conviction. As stated in *Duarte Vela*, "[w]hether the exclusion of testimony violated the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to present a defense depends on whether the omitted evidence evaluated in the context of the entire record, creates a reasonable doubt that did not otherwise exist." *Duarte Vela*, 200 Wn. App. at 327, citing *United States v. Blackwell*, 459 F.3d 739, 753 (6th Cir. 2006).

Here, the defendant testified that he did not commit the crimes. He testified that he told the police that he did not commit the crimes. The evidence on the audio tape of him denying the crimes was redundant. His police interview would not have "created a reasonable doubt that did not otherwise exist." *Duarte Vela*, 200 Wn. App. at 327.

Although he has not argued this point in this petition, the trial court and Court of Appeals were correct in holding that the defendant's police interrogation was not admissible at the defendant's request. The defendant

has wisely not suggested that his police interrogation should be admissible as a "prior consistent statement" under ER 801 (d)(1)(ii). A prior consistent statement is admissible only if it is made under circumstances minimizing the risk that the declarant foresaw the legal consequences of the statement, i.e. before the existence of any motive to fabricate a new story. *State v. Ellison*, 36 Wn. App. 564, 676 P.2d 531 (1984).

State v. McDaniel, 37 Wn. App. 768, 771, 683 P.2d 231 (1984) is on point. In that case, the victim in a sex case testified. A caseworker then also testified to consistent statements by the victim. The court stated, "There was no showing that the victim's consistent statements were made at a time when the motive to falsify was not present. Evidence which merely showed that the victim made similar statements to the caseworker.

. . was of little probative value . . . "Id. at 771.

Here, the defendant had been effectively cross-examined and he offered the audio tape to bolster his denials. Prior out-of-court statements consistent with a witness's testimony are not admissible to reinforce or bolster that testimony. *Id*.

2. The case does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

If evidence is inadmissible under Evidence Rules, statutes, or caselaw, should that evidence become admissible if the defendant claims

that it is part of his constitutional right to present a defense? Of course not.

That would end all hearsay rules, all requirements of document authentication, all issues of relevancy. The defendant has not cited any authority for such a sweeping rule. See Petition for Review at 19-20.

Further, the issue of playing the audio tape of the defendant's police interview was not part of the defendant's main case. He did not attempt to play it during his direct examination. He sought to play the audio only after he was cross-examined.

V. CONCLUSION

The petition is based on a single evidentiary ruling in the trial court. The defendant does not argue that the trial court or the Court of Appeals incorrectly applied ER 801 (d)(1)(ii) regarding Prior Inconsistent Statements. There is no constitutional issue, the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with other cases, and there is no public interest in the case. Accordingly, the petition for review should be denied.